Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-18-2009

Curtis-Klure PLLC v. Ada Cty. Highway Dist. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36647

III.	STATEMENT OF FACTS	
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL	
V.	ARGUMENT8	
A.	Maple Grove is Entitled to Business Damages Under Idaho Code Section 7-711 8	
В.	As an equal partner, Dr. Curtis' ownership of the Property is sufficient to support Maple Grove's entire claim for business damages under Idaho Code section 7-711 9	
C.	Maple Grove is entitled to its business damages because it was located on land owned by Dr. Curtis that adjoins the Condemned Property which was owned by Dr. Curtis 11	
D.	ACHD's Purchase of Dr. Curtis's Property was a Taking 12	
E.	Maple Grove's Interest in the Property Was Taken by ACHD	
F.	Maple Grove is Entitled to Recover Business Damages Reasonably Caused by the Taking, Including Relocation Costs	
G.	Maple Grove is Entitled to Recover Its Attorney Fees on Appeal if it Prevails in the Action	
VI.	CONCLUSION21	

TABLES OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
A.W. Duckett & Co. v. U.S., 266 U.S. 149, 151 (1924)
Ada County Highway District v. Acarrequi, 105 Idaho 873, 673 P.2d 1067 (1983)
City of McCall v. Seubert, 142 Idaho 580, 584, 130 P.3d 1118, 1122 (2006). 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 17, 23, 24
Fuddy Duddy's v. State Dept. of Transp., 950 P.2d 773 (Nevada 1997)
Lanning v. City of Monterey, 226 Cal. Rptr. 258, 262 (Cal. Ct. App. 1986)
Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003, 1015 (1992)
P.C. Management, Inc. v. Page Two, Inc., 573 N.E.2d 434, 437 (Ind.App. 1991)
Tahoe-Sierra Preservation Council, Inc. v. Tahoe Regional Planning Agency, 535 U.S. 302, 321 (2001)
(2001)
Vincent v. Redev. Auth., Etc., 487 A.2d 1024, 1025 (Pa.Commw.Ct. 1985)
Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Dept. of Transp., 839 So.2d 727 (Fla.App.2 dist., 2003)
Statutes Idaho Code § 40-2004 1, 2, 3 Idaho Code § 7-707 16 Idaho Code § 7-711 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 17, 22, 23, 24, 25 Idaho Code § 7-718 8, 24
Other Authorities 29A C.J.S. Eminent Domain § 150 (2004)
Rules I.R.C.P. Rule 54(d)(1)(B)
Constitutional Provisions Idaho Const. art. I, § 14; U.S. Const. amend. V

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Curtis-Klure, PLLC, dba Maple Grove Dentistry and Jack D. Klure, D.D.S. (together "Maple Grove") appeal from the district court's dismissal of their lawsuit against the Ada County Highway District ("ACHD"). Maple Grove claims business damages from ACHD under Idaho Code § 7-711(2) based upon the taking of real property that ACHD needed for its Ustick Road widening project in Boise.

II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Maple Grove filed its Complaint against ACHD on September 14, 2007, seeking declaratory relief and damages. R., p. 7. Maple Grove alleged that it was entitled to declaratory judgment that it was a qualifying business under Idaho Code § 7-711(2) and could therefore recover its business damages resulting from ACHD's acquisition of property for a public purpose, and that it was entitled to a jury trial to determine the amount of those damages. Maple Grove further claimed that it was entitled to recover its relocation expenses under Idaho Code § 40-2004.

In response to the Complaint, ACHD filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that Maple Grove improperly combined its request for declaratory relief with a claim for damages, and that Maple Grove failed to follow the proper administrative procedures with regard to its claim under Idaho Code § 40-2004. R., p. 13. The district court, in a Decision and Order dated February 19, 2008, denied the motion to dismiss as to Maple Grove's claims for declaratory relief and damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2) and granted the motion as to the claim under Idaho Code § 40-2004. R., p. 31. During argument on the motion to dismiss, the parties debated whether the

action was properly described as one for inverse condemnation. In the Decision and Order, the trial court did not address the issue but observed that it had "questions about whether the Plaintiffs have a compensable interest and a right to recover under I.C. § 7-711" R., p. 41.

In order to address those questions, on August 11, 2008, Maple Grove filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking a ruling from the district court as to Maple Grove's right to recover damages as a qualifying business under Idaho Code § 7-711. R., p. 43. Maple Grove also argued that, to the extent that it was required to establish the elements of an inverse condemnation claim in order to recover, it could do so by virtue of its leasehold interest in portions of the property acquired for public use. ACHD argued in opposition that Maple Grove did not have a right to bring an action for damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2) because such a claim could only be made in the context of an eminent domain or inverse condemnation action.

R., p. 46. ACHD also argued that Maple Grove did not possess a property interest sufficient to support an inverse condemnation claim, and that no taking of any property occurred because

ACHD was able to negotiate a purchase of the real property with the landowner. *Id.*

In a Decision and Order dated January 22, 2009, the district court denied Maple Grove's motion for summary judgment holding that Maple Grove did not possess a property interest that was the subject of a taking, and that Maple Grove was not entitled to business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2) because the property was acquired by ACHD via purchase. R., p. 98.

¹ Maple Grove also amended its Complaint in order to state an inverse condemnation claim in addition to the statutory claim for business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2). R., p. 73.

Pursuant to a motion by ACHD, the district court entered judgment against Maple Grove on February 10, 2009. R., p. 113.

Maple Grove filed its Motion for Reconsideration of Decision and Order and for Withdrawal of Judgment on February 24, 2009. R., p. 117. Following briefing and oral argument, the district court granted the motion for withdrawal of the February 10, 2009 judgment (R., p. 137), denied the motion for reconsideration (R., p. 139), and, on May 20, 2009, entered a Final Judgment in favor of ACHD, dismissing all of Maple Grove's claims with prejudice (R., p. 141). Maple Grove timely filed its Notice of Appeal on July 1, 2009. R., p. 145. Maple Grove appeals the trial court's decisions concerning its claim for damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2).²

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jack D. Klure D.D.S. ("Dr. Klure") and Thomas R. Curtis, D.D.S. ("Dr. Curtis.") owned and operated Maple Grove Dentistry as equal partners. R., Exh. 6, ¶¶ 1-2. Pursuant to a lease agreement between Dr. Curtis and Maple Grove (the "Maple Grove Lease"), Maple Grove leased an office building and real property located at 3224 North Maple Grove Road, Boise, Idaho for its dental practice from Dr. Curtis. R., Exh. 6, ¶ 4. Maple Grove operated the dental practice at that location for more than ten (10) years before Ada County Highway District ("ACHD") acquired the property. R., Exh. 6, ¶ 5.

In late 2005, ACHD moved forward with a construction project to widen Ustick Road between Five Mile Road and Cole Road (the "Project"). R., Exh. 7, ¶ 17. Completion of the

² Maple Grove does not appeal the trial court's dismissal of its claim for relocation costs under Idaho Code § 40-2004.

Project required ACHD to acquire private property along Ustick Road, including a strip of property adjacent to the office building where Maple Grove was located. R., Exh. 7, ¶ 20-22. Until the Project, Dr. Klure and Dr. Curtis intended to practice at the Maple Grove location until they retired. R., Exh. 9, ¶ 4. The facility was state of the art, with six fully equipped patient rooms. R., Exh. 9, ¶ 5. However, it was apparent to Dr. Curtis and Dr. Klure that the Project would result in the Maple Grove location being unsuitable for a dentistry practice due to the traffic being very close to the building and the new configuration of the lanes and driveways. R., Exh. 9, ¶¶ 2, 3 and 6. Both Dr. Curtis and Dr. Klure decided to relocate their practices based upon the changes to the location caused by the Project. R., Exh. 6, ¶¶ 7-8; R., Exh. 9, ¶ 4.

In June of 2007, Dr. Curtis entered into a settlement agreement with ACHD (the "ACHD/Curtis Settlement"). R., Exh. 6, ¶ 8. To facilitate the ACHD/Curtis Settlement, ACHD acquired more real property than it needed to complete the Project. The ACHD/Curtis Settlement provided just compensation for Dr. Curtis' fee interest in the property and settled all of Dr. Curtis' claims arising from Dr. Curtis' fifty percent (50%) interest in Maple Grove, including a claim for business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711. *Id*.

Dr. Klure did not benefit from the ACHD/Curtis Settlement. In fact, the ACHD/Curtis Settlement specifically excluded all claims by Dr. Klure and his fifty percent (50%) interest in Maple Grove. *Id.* Maple Grove continued to operate in its original location until Dr. Klure relocated his practice in April of 2007 and Dr. Curtis relocated his practice in June of 2007. R., Exh. 7, ¶ 62-64.

Maple Grove's leasehold interest in the property was terminated upon ACHD's acquisition of the property. R., Exh. 6, ¶ 4. According to the Maple Grove Lease, the Premises consisted of the lands and improvements located on Lot 19 Block 1 of Fairbanks Subdivision, according to the official plat thereof, filed in Book 55 of Plats at page 4987-4988, Records of Ada County Idaho. *Id.*, Art.2.1 and Exh. A.

Article 14.1 of the Maple Grove Lease states in relevant part:

14.1 Entire or Substantial Taking. If the entire Premises, or so much thereof as to make the balance not reasonably adequate for the conduct of Tenant's business, notwithstanding restoration by Landlord hereinafter provided, shall be taken under the power of eminent domain, this Lease shall automatically terminate as of the date on which condemning authority takes title or possession, whichever first occurs.

Correspondingly, Article 14.4 of the Maple Grove Lease states:

14.4 <u>Sale Under Threat of Condemnation</u>. A sale by Landlord of the Premises either under threat of condemnation or while condemnation proceedings are pending, shall be deemed a taking under the power of eminent domain for all purposes of this section.

ACHD appropriated the property when it entered into the ACHD/Curtis Settlement.

Section B.1 of the ACHD/Curtis Settlement provides:

ACHD shall pay Curtis the sum of One Million Ninety Five Thousand and No/100ths Dollars (\$1,095,000.00) as just compensation and in full, complete and final settlement of any and all claims by Curtis, including their interest in [Maple Grove], and any and all damages suffered by Curtis, including their interest in [Maple Grove], of any kind or nature arising out of or relating in any way to the Project and/or to ACHD's acquisition of the aforementioned real properties described in Exhibits A, B and C hereto, and including necessary construction easements associated with the Project.

R., Exh. 6, ¶ 8. In exchange for this payment Dr. Curtis agreed to convey the property to ACHD.

Id., section G. ACHD's acquisition of the property terminated Maple Grove's leasehold estate.

Under the terms of the Maple Grove Lease, Dr. Curtis, as the landlord, was entitled to any award for the taking of all or part of the property. However, Article 14.3 of the Maple Grove Lease specifically states that:

14.3 Awards. Any award for any taking of all or any part of the Premises under the power of eminent domain shall be the property of Landlord, whether such award shall be made as compensation for diminution in value of the leasehold or for the taking of the fee; provided that nothing contained herein, however, shall be deemed to preclude [Maple Grove] from obtaining and keeping, or to give Landlord any interest in, any award to [Maple Grove] for loss of or damage to [Maple Grove's] trade fixtures and removable personal property or for damage for cessation or interruption of [Maple Grove's] business, or for relocation costs or for the portion of such award as is allocable to leasehold improvements constructed or paid for by [Maple Grove].

(Emphasis added.)

The ACHD/Curtis Settlement correctly compensated Dr. Curtis for, among other things, his fee simple interest in the property (including the real property actually used in the Project) and that part of Maple Grove's business damages attributable to his ownership interest in Maple Grove. In exchange, ACHD took possession of the property. However, this all occurred without Dr. Klure receiving compensation for his portion of Maple Grove's business damages.

Maple Grove attempted to negotiate a settlement with ACHD for the damage to Dr.

Klure's interest in Maple Grove but ACHD refused to compensate Maple Grove for any damages the Project caused Dr. Klure or his interest in Maple Grove. R., Exh. 6, ¶ 11.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether Maple Grove is a qualifying business entitled to recover business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2).
- 2. Whether a taking of property occurred that triggered application of the business damages provisions of Idaho Code § 7-711(2).
- Whether a taking of any property interest of Maple Grove occurred in connection with the Project.
- 4. Whether Maple Grove can recover its relocation costs under Idaho Code § 7-711(2).
- 5. Whether the district court erred in denying Maple Grove's motion for partial summary judgment and its motion for reconsideration, and by entering judgment in favor of ACHD and dismissing Maple Grove's claims with prejudice.
- 6. Whether Appellant is entitled to attorneys fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 7-718, I.R.C.P. Rule 54(d)(1)(B) and Ada County Highway District v. Acarrequi, 105 Idaho 873, 673 P.2d 1067 (1983).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Maple Grove is Entitled to Business Damages Under Idaho Code § 7-711.

The Idaho Legislature has provided for the compensation of certain business owners that are damaged by the taking of property for public uses. Idaho Code § 7-711(2) entitles any person or entity meeting its requirements to recover business damages. That statute requires the fact finder to ascertain and assess:

[T]he damages to any business qualifying under this subsection having more than five (5) years' standing which a taking of a portion of the property and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff may reasonably cause.

Idaho Code § 7-711(2).

The Legislature's decision to require the payment of damages to qualifying businesses is independent of the right to receive compensation for a taking. The business damages provision was at issue in *City of McCall v. Seubert*, wherein this Court stated:

... [T]he City's argument that an interest in remaining on the land sufficient to claim business damages must be proven by a written lease or agreement attempts to import a requirement into the statute that does not exist. A business need only meet the statutory requirements of I.C. § 7-711 in order to make a claim for damages resulting from the taking of the underlying property. "The right to receive business damages . . . resulting from a taking of land is strictly a statutory right" 29A C.J.S. Eminent Domain § 150 (2004).

City of McCall v. Seubert, 142 Idaho 580, 584, 130 P.3d 1118, 1122 (2006) (emphasis added).

The Seubert court analyzed section 7-711's statutory requirements to entitlement to business damages. The business must be on the property being taken for more than five years.

Seubert, 130 P.3d at 1122. Once the duration of the business' occupancy has been established:

There are two independent ways to qualify under I.C. § 7-711(2): '[T]he business must be owned by the party whose lands are being condemned or be located upon adjoining lands owned or held by such party.'

Seubert, 130 P.3d at 1122.

In this case, Maple Grove clearly satisfies the five year standing requirement where it operated on the Property for over ten years. There is simply no requirement that Maple Grove must prove a taking of its property in order to recover under the statute. Instead, all that is necessary is that Maple Grove proves that it qualifies under the explicit terms of the statute. In fact, Maple Grove qualifies for business damages under both prongs of section 7-711(2).

B. As an equal partner, Dr. Curtis' ownership of the Property is sufficient to support Maple Grove's entire claim for business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711.

To qualify for business damages, "[t]he business must be owned by the party whose lands are being condemned...." Idaho Code § 7-711(2). An award for the full amount of a business's damages is appropriate under this statute where a majority owner of the business also owns the property being condemned. *Seubert*, 130 P.3d at 1122-1123.

In Seubert, one of the individual defendants was the majority shareholder of Valley Asphalt & Paving, Inc. ("Valley"). When the government brought its eminent domain action, Valley intervened as a party to the action and asserted claims for business damages. Seubert, 130 P.3d at 1121. This Court upheld the district court's decision to award Valley business

damages over the government's argument that Valley had no legally compensable interest in the property.

The Seubert court specifically held that Valley satisfied the first prong of Idaho Code § 7-711(2) which requires the business to be owned by the party whose property is being condemned. This Court said:

Valley satisfies the first prong of I.C. § 7-711(2) that allows compensation to be paid to a business 'owned by the party whose lands are being condemned.' Valley is effectively owned by Seubert as Cherie Seubert is the majority owner of Valley and thereby controls the corporation. * * * Valley [] clearly meet[s] the requirements of I.C. § 7-711 and therefore, [is] entitled to make a claim for business damages.

130 P.3d at 1122-1123. This Court did NOT restrict recovery to only Mrs. Seubert's interest in Valley, but instead held that Valley, as a separate legal entity, was entitled to make an independent claim for any business damages it suffered as a result of the condemnation.

In this case, Dr. Curtis and Dr. Klure are equal partners in Maple Grove. Dr. Curtis stands in the shoes of Mrs. Seubert as a party that owned both the property being condemned and a controlling interest in the entity seeking business damages. Dr. Klure stands in the same position as Valley's minority shareholders. The *Seubert* court held that the award for Valley's business damages was appropriate. Since Maple Grove is owned by the party whose lands were condemned it is entitled to business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2). ACHD recognized this entitlement when it settled Dr. Curtis's claim for business damages in the ACHD/Curtis Settlement. Now, Dr. Klure is entitled to his portion of those damages which were specifically excluded from the ACHD/Curtis Settlement.

C. Maple Grove is entitled to its business damages because it was located on land owned by Dr. Curtis that adjoins the Condemned Property which was owned by Dr. Curtis.

Businesses that are located on: (1) land adjoining the condemned piece of property; and (2) on land owned by the condemnee; qualify for business damages under the second prong of Idaho Code § 7-711(2). Seubert, 130 P.3d at 1123.

Clearwater Concrete, Inc. ("Clearwater") was another intervenor in *Seubert* that was awarded business damages by the trial court. The Idaho Supreme Court upheld Clearwater's claim under the second prong of Idaho Code § 7-711(2). *Seubert*, 130 P.3d at 1122-1123.

Clearwater's business was located on Seubert's property. *Seubert*, 130 P.3d at 1121. After the condemnation, Clearwater was located on a remaining portion of Seubert's property which was adjacent to the condemned property. *Seubert*, 130 P.3d at 1123. Accordingly, this Court held that "Clearwater clearly meet[s] the requirements of I.C. § 7-711 and therefore, [is] entitled to make a claim for business damages." *Seubert*, 130 P.3d at 1123.

Here, Maple Grove was located on land owned by Dr. Curtis. The land upon which Maple Grove was located is adjacent to the property used in the Project. The property actually used in the project was also owned by Dr. Curtis. Therefore, Maple Grove is entitled to recover the full amount of its business damages.

Dr. Klure and Maple Grove have demonstrated that Maple Grove satisfies both prongs of Idaho Code § 7-711(2). Therefore, the trial court erred by denying Maple Grove's motion for partial summary judgment and by dismissing Maple Grove's claim for business damages.

Instead, the trial court should have held that Maple Grove is a qualifying business under Idaho

Code § 7-711(2) and permitted it to prove its business damages reasonably caused by the Project.

D. ACHD's Purchase of Dr. Curtis's Property was a Taking.

The trial court held that Maple Grove cannot prove an entitlement to business damages under Idaho Code § 7-711(2) because ACHD purchased the property from Dr. Curtis. Maple Grove concedes that no taking took place with regard to any of the purchased property that was not actually used in connection with the Project. However, focusing only on the property along Ustick Road that was actually used for the Project, which is currently part of Ustick Road and the sidewalk, and which adjoins the property where Maple Grove operated, it is plain that a taking of Dr. Curtis's property occurred.

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