Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-29-2010

Curtis-Klure PLLC v. Ada Cty. Highway Dist. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36647

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

Even assuming *arguendo* that the interest in the parking area amounted to a "bargained for" interest, unlike the unexpired lease at issue in *Winn-Dixie*, Klure is not entitled to compensation or business damages because he *no longer had a leasehold interest in any property* at the time of the alleged taking. Rather, the lease had expired, then had terminated, and the partnership had dissolved before the alleged taking. CR at 102 (noting that the Curtis-Klure partnership dissolved in the late Winter of 2006 or early Spring of 2007; that Klure relocated his practice in April 2007; and that Dr. Curtis and ACHD entered a purchase agreement on June 22, 2007).

2. Case Law on Point Makes Clear that No Taking Occurred.

When a governmental entity purchases property by contract, it does not condemn the property. In such circumstances, it acts merely as a purchaser without an exercise of sovereign powers. *See City of Lewiston v. Lindsey*, 123 Idaho at 858, 853 P.2d at 603 (no condemnation occurs as a result of planning for construction of a road project or negotiating with landowners for the purchase of their property).

In General Services Comm'n. v. Little-Tex Insulation, Co. 39 S.W.3d 591, 599 (Tex. 2001), the Supreme Court of Texas held as follows:

[The] State wears two hats: the State as a party to the contract and the State as sovereign. The State, in acting within a color of right to take or withhold property in a contractual situation, is acting akin to a private citizen and not under any sovereign powers. In this situation, the State does not have the intent to take under its eminent domain powers; the State only has an intent to act within the scope of the contract.

Little Tex, 39 S.W.3d at 599 (rejecting inverse condemnation by general contractor against state university where university exercised only its contractual powers, not eminent domain, and "only ha[d] an intent to act within the scope of the contract.").

In *State v. Holland*, 221 S.W.3d 639 (Tex. 2007), the Texas Supreme Court held that a third party patent holder did not have a viable condemnation claim against the State because the State was "acting under color of contract" and was not "invoking its eminent-domain powers" when it entered into a contract with two private companies for the design, construction and use of three water storage facilities. *Id.* at 641-43. The court concluded that because the contract reflected only the State's intent to exercise its contractual rights and it lacked the "requisite intent to take . . . under its eminent-domain powers, the State is not subject to [inverse condemnation] liability." *Id.* at 644.

Here, ACHD acted with its "power to contract" in purchasing Dr. Curtis's property. ACHD only needed the 13-foot wide strip that ran along side of Ustick Road, and it was Dr. Curtis who approached ACHD in May 2006 to negotiate a sale of all of his property. CR at 100-02. ACHD acted only in the exercise of contractual rights—which it is statutorily empowered to do. *See* I.C. § 40-1309. ACHD was not invoking its eminent domain powers when it entered into the contract for sale with Dr. Curtis.

ACHD's mere adoption and plan for the Ustick project, which includes the power to condemn, falls "several leagues short of a firm declaration" of ACHD's intent to condemn Dr. Curtis's property. Langer v. Redevelopment Agency, 84 Cal. Rptr. 2d 19, 21, 26 (Cal. App. Ct. 1999). "The fact that a leasehold interest is a property interest which may be condemned does not mean . . . as a matter of law that a de facto taking has occurred." Millcreek Township v. N.E.A. Cross Co., 620 A.2d 558, 562 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1993) (emphasis added). "Stated differently, acquiring property under a threat of condemnation is not the same as acquiring property under an actual eminent domain proceeding." Knop v. Gardner Sch. Dist., 205 P.3d 755, 766 (Kan. 2009) (holding there was no compensable inverse condemnation claim because there was no "taking" in the absence of a final condemnation judgment entered and where evidence showed the school voluntarily "purchased the plaintiffs' land under written contract" separate and apart from eminent domain statutes). It "suffices to say that a threat of condemnation is not a taking." Hempstead Warehouse Corp. v. United States, 98 F. Supp. 572, 573 (Fed. Ct. Cl. 1951) (citing United States v. Sponenbarger, 208 U.S. 256, 267 (1939); Danforth v. United States, 308 U.S. 271, 283-286 (1939)).

In Pacific Outdoor Advertising Co. v. City of Burbank, 149 Cal. Rptr. 906, 911 (Cal. App. Ct. 1978), the court found that a city's acquisition of property from a railroad was an open market transaction, and that any leases or licenses that were terminated because of the transaction would not support a claim of inverse condemnation. *Id.* Pacific Outdoor Advertising had a licensing agreement with the railroad to erect and maintain several billboards on the railroad's right-of-way. *Id.* at 908. Nevertheless, the city and the railroad entered into a lease

agreement for property owned by the railroad including the right-of-way where Pacific's signs were located. *Id.* The lease agreement included a provision that the railroad could terminate the agreements with Pacific, and the railroad terminated Pacific's licenses. *Id.*

Pacific sought damages in inverse condemnation against the city, on the basis that the city had essentially "caused" the railroad to terminate Pacific's licenses. *Id.* In particular, Pacific argued that *even though the city had not exercised its condemnation authority*, the fact that it *could have* condemned the property in question was sufficient to support an action in inverse condemnation. *Id.*

The California Court of Appeals rejected Pacific's argument. *Id.* Instead, the court found that the railroad and the city had engaged in an open market transaction and that "the power to condemn is not enough, there must be evidence of implied or actual threat of condemnation, so that the ultimate result is a foregone conclusion." *Id.* at 911. The *Pacific* Court emphasized that the "power to condemn" itself is not the proximate cause giving rise to inverse condemnation liability where there is an intervening force or factor. *Id.* at 911-12. The court concluded that the license with Pacific had been properly terminated and the city and railroad had *acted freely* in their own financial interests to terminate the license. *Id.* This voluntary act between the parties constituted an intervening force or factor that severed any casual link between the "power to condemn" and the termination of the plaintiff's license. *Id.* at 911. Thus, "absent an unequivocal act or intent to condemn if necessary,[] the 'power to condemn,' *does not* in and of itself constitute proximate cause." *Id.*

In Langer v. Redevelopment Agency, 84 Cal. Rptr. 2d 19 (Cal. App. Ct. 1999), the California Court of Appeals rejected an inverse condemnation action brought by two commercial tenants against a state redevelopment agency where the underlying owner had given the tenants notice of his intent to sell the property to the agency and had voluntarily entered an agreement to sell his property "free and clear" of those interests. *Id.* at 21, 24. The plaintiffs argued that although the agency did not resort to its condemnation powers, the seller had entered into the sale agreement under threat of condemnation that amounted to a taking. *Id.* at 20-21.

The court held that to "have inverse condemnation, you have to have a *taking* or at the very least a definite and unequivocal manifestation that the public entity in question was ready to use its power to condemn, and in fact would clearly do so if necessary, to acquire the property at issue." *Langer*, 84 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 25 (emphasis added and internal citations omitted). The court held that there was no evidence that the "Agency was prepared to use its power to condemn" the land at issue or that the landowner "was acting under the threat of condemnation when he gave his tenants notice." *Id.* Rather, the agreement between the parties was an open market transaction where the owner voluntarily entered into a sale with the redevelopment joint-venture. *Id.*

The Langer Court reaffirmed the principle outlined in *Pacific* over twenty years earlier, namely that "[t]he power to condemn, in and of itself, does not constitute proximate cause where there are intervening factors." *Langer*, 84 Cal. Rpt. 2d at 25-26. The court explained that "the owner of the properties terminated the tenancies on his properties" under voluntary agreement, which by its terms included his promise to "deliver his properties free of tenancies." *Id.*

Accordingly, the court concluded that this voluntary act constituted "an intervening force or factor sufficient to negate inverse condemnation liability on the part of the Agency." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

Additionally, the court held that "the fact that the Agency had the authority to condemn property in the redevelopment area and *indeed used its condemning authority to acquire other parcels* in the Gateway Project" did "*not give rise to a triable issue* regarding the Agency's eminent domain liability" as to the specific parcels at issue. *Id.* at 26 (emphasis added). The court explained that the mere adoption of a redevelopment plan or project which includes the power to condemn falls "several leagues short of a firm declaration of an intention to condemn real property." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Here, ACHD approached Curtis in January 2006 to negotiate the purchase of the 13-foot wide strip needed for the Ustick Project. CR at 101. No condemnation proceedings were ever threatened or initiated. CR at 101. Curtis approached ACHD in May 2006 and made a counter-proposal for the sale of all of his property. CR at 101.

By its own terms, the lease held by the Curtis/Klure partnership expired on December 31, 2006. CR at 102. On June 22, 2007, after the Curtis/Klure lease had expired and Klure had relocated his practice, Curtis entered into a *voluntary agreement* with ACHD for the sale of all of his property at fair market value. CR at 102. No condemnation of any property was threatened and no condemnation occurred. Accordingly, Klure cannot recover business damages under § 7-711(2) because no taking occurred.

3. Klure's Reliance on a Statement in Nichols Is Misplaced.

Klure cites to 7 Nichols on Eminent Domain § G6.02[1] for the proposition that "[p]roperty acquired amicably in lieu of condemnation is treated as though it were taken through an eminent domain proceeding, entitling the affected party to relocation benefits." The Nichol's treatise cites only one case in support of this proposition: *Redevelopment Auth. v. Property Located In West Milton*, 517 A.2d 210 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1986). However, this case does not support the statement in Nichols.

In West Milton, the lessee brought an action against the redevelopment authority alleging a de facto taking after the landowners had entered into a settlement agreement in lieu of condemnation and notified that lessee that by its agreement, it was terminating the lease. West Milton, 517 A.2d at 211. The court explained that "[t]o be entitled to compensation for a taking, one must be the owner of a property interest taken." Id. The court affirmed the trial court's finding that the lessee had no valid condemnation claim because "[a]t the time of actual purchase by deed" the lessee "had no compensable property interest in the lease" because the lease had expired, the lessee had waived its right to renewal, and had "agreed to an early termination of the lease." Id. at 211-12. The court concluded that under the facts of the case the "tenant whose lease has expired [wa]s not a condemnee under the Code." Id. In dicta, the court noted that "even if [the lessee] did have a right of annual renewal" because it had neither been waived nor expired, the agency's actions would still have "been insufficient to establish a de facto taking" because "mere negotiations and even appraisals and a flood control plan were insufficient to establish a de facto taking." Id. In short, *West Milton* provides no support for the statement in Nichols cited by Klure or Klure's position in this case. In addition, other Pennsylvania case law further refutes Klure's contention. In *Koschak v. Redevelopment Auth.*, 758 A.2d 291 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2000), a podiatrist (lessor) owned real property and shared office space with a second podiatrist (lessee) pursuant to "office sharing and right of first refusal agreement." *Id.* at 292. Under the terms of the agreement, the lessor/podiatrist had the authority to terminate the agreement if he elected to sell the property. *Id.* After the lessor notified the lessee that he had decided to sell the property to the redevelopment authority, the lessee brought an action alleging that he was entitled to condemnation damages. *Id.* at 292-93.

On appeal, the court concluded that the lessee's argument of a de facto taking in lieu of condemnation was barred on procedural grounds. *Id.* at 293-94 & n.2. Nevertheless, the court explained that "[w]ere the argument to be considered, it would fail" because the mere negotiation for sale did not amount to "closing" under the terms of the lease—the date before which the lessor had to declare the rights of the lessee to be terminated. *Id.* Because the lessor gave notice of his intent to terminate the lease—in this instance a mere day's notice—the court found that the lessee no longer had any legal right to occupy the premises on the date of the sale. *Id.* Accordingly, the lessee had no compensable interest—under either a theory of de facto condemnation or statute—because the authority's "purchase of the subject property was through private negotiations and sale rather than through its powers" of eminent domain. *Id. See also Carr v. City of Pittsburg*, 837 A.2d 655, 661 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2003) (applying *Koschak* and finding no compensable interest where sale was "arms-length transaction" and "acquiring agency"

acquired the property through private negotiations rather than through its power" of condemnation).

Here, Klure no longer had a compensable interest in any property. His lease expired December 31, 2006. CR at 102. He vacated the premises in April of 2007. CR at 102. On June 22, 2007, after the lease had terminated and Klure had relocated his practice, Dr. Curtis entered into a *voluntary agreement* with ACHD for the sale of his property at fair market value. CR at 102.

No condemnation proceedings were ever threatened or initiated. CR at 101. No de facto condemnation occurred because negotiations pursuant to a planned government project are insufficient to establish a de facto taking where the evidence clearly shows the sale was the product of an arms-length transaction rather than ACHD's condemning authority. *See West Milton*, 517 A.2d at 212.

E. Klure Cannot Recover Business Damages Under § 7-711(2) Because His Business Can And Has Been Relocated.

Even if the Court were to find that Klure did in fact have a compensable property interest and that a taking occurred, Klure is still barred from recovering business damages. Section 7-711(2) only permits an award of business damages if the losses cannot be reasonably prevented by the relocation of the business. It is undisputed that Klure has relocated his business and thereby prevented any business losses that might have occurred as the result of ACHD's actions. The District Court correctly held that "[b]usiness damages are not awarded if the loss can be reasonably prevented by the relocation of the business nor can they be awarded for temporary interruptions due to construction." CR at 107. The court further held that

Klure relocated his practice because of his fear of disruption during construction which is not a compensable harm . . . Klure's concern outlined in his Affidavit was not that the project as originally proposed would damage Maple Grove Dentistry but rather the construction of the entire project would cause disruption to the business. Temporary business interruption due to construction is not compensable under I.C. § 7-711(2). There is no right to any business damages under I.C. § 7-711(2).

CR at 107.

Because Klure can and did relocate his dental practice, he cannot recover business damages under § 7-711(2). This conclusion is stated in the plain language of the statute. The conclusion is bolstered by the fact that Klure relocated not because the practice of dentistry could not continue at that location, but only because he was concerned about temporary disruption during the construction phase of the Project. Therefore, Klure is not entitled to any award of business damages under § 7-711(2).

F. Klure Cannot Recover Relocation Costs Under § 7-711(2) Because Relocation Costs Are Governed By Idaho Code § 40-2001 *et seq.* Klure Failed To Exhaust His Administrative Remedies, Failed to Seek Judicial Review, And Has Not Appealed Dismissal Of His Claim For Relocation Costs.

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